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ES TicThiY. 

called on behalf- of the People being d_uly• sworn, 

testified as follows  

EXAMINATION BY LIR. DEMING: 

Mr. Ames, what is your business?. 

Q Where? A 608 Grand 'Street. 

Q, In the City and. County or New York? A Yes, sz 

• Was that your job on the 2Othof4riI. of this 

Q: Do you remember the morning of the 20th 

about half past six? A Yes, sir. • 

Q, What happened in the saloon there when you. were 

duty? A Well, three or four young fellows coMer in., an 

took what money was in the till, and. demanded it °frills 

A Well., one of them. called; 

aie to the closet., and told the other fellow to get 

the nancy. out of the till. One of them called: me into the 

waier-closet1 that he wanted to speak to e. 

0. Diu yov see this defend ht. *ere? A' I cbtadn't 



..04•S 

took the money from. the 

aro"0,...• WON. • A, Asar 

young fellows • 

Q, That did. he do before he took it A Well, the 

fellow that called me into the. toilet told him to go and 

get it  and.  they couldn t open the till, and so I went and 

opened: the till, and. they  took the money. 

Q, Now, why did you open the till and give them the 

money? A Because_ I thought they might do /LIB bodily harm. 

Q, Well, did they threaten you? A Well  I don't think 

they did, but I saw them with their hands in their coat 

pockets like that (il) ustra.ting by indicating the right hand 

outside coat pocket). . 

Q, One of them had his hand in his right hand..pocket 

, like that? A Yes, sir. 

• Q And what did, he say to you? A He told me to give 

Up the money • 

Q, Can you remember anything else that he said? 

A No,sir, I can't. 

And did he say anything about shooting you? 

R. HOVE: I object to. that as leading. 

THE 'COURT: Over-ruled...-

111. 1:10VIE : Exception. 

Well 3 n o SLt, not that I -remember . 

BY 24. . DIrgElIG : 

Ames s tor and e . 

if11011 

C4717C;=.11 



• the •ante-room and told me 

Yes, s ir 

Q, Iasked you what happened and, you  told me; 

you? A Yes sir . 

I object, if your Honor please. 

immaterial,is  irrelevant and i no ompe ten 

improper way to ' examine the ,witness. •Vhatever conver., 

sa t ons the witness hatt/ith the District Attorney, 

fail -to see have any bearing on this 

THE COURT: I will sustain the objection. 

have not shown that the witness is hos tile 7 or that 

ou are taken by surprise • 

. DItflTG Weil, I will ask him a few ques ti ons 

your' Honor. 

Mal COURT: Objection sustained... 

point there, on the identification. 

. =NG: Certainly, be ha 



THE COURT': not wish to examine 

hnn on that Point --

MR. DEMING: No, sir. I only want to et as 

clear a picture as possible of the scene. 

THp COURT: Well, he has testified'to'all that. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q, Did you know these men? 

Q Did they have any interest in that store there? 

No, sir.. 

Q, They didn't 

did you give your. consent to their taking 

A No sir. I was scared that they would do me bodily 

BY 11.0R 

of the till? A There was an automdbile outside and they 

litomobile waitin7 out 



in the, automobile, and drove off? 

CROSS EXAMillATION BY .liti, 

Q, How -many  people were in the saloon?' 

swear there wa,s more than these three:. 

They were the only persons in the 'barroom? A 

&here was more people in there besides these three, t 

was a lot of people in there. 

Cr Besides these people that 

else there? A Yes, sir, customers, 

How many customers? A Between five and seven, 

Q, -Were they men? A Yes  certainly; 

men comes- there. 

Q, O you know the names of any of the five or seven 

men? 'A I don't know their 'names, bit I seen their. faces 

before, but I don't know their names,. They were standing' 

Q, And they didn't do anything? A I 

Were some of those men cUstomens of the plac 

came in regvlaray? A Yes six-, they were afl 



FREDERIC of 29Mangin Street', a witness 

being duly 

testified as follows: 

DIRECT. EMINATIQN BY MR DEMING: 

Q, Now, Fredl Want you,' to •speak 

can, so that these twelve men can hearL- you, 

answer it. - You remember the morning..of the .20th of ..A.ptki - 

when you were, in the •saloon at 608, Grand Street . A. Yes,,. 

A I worked for a 

John W. Kirk, and I went down th.errp with an 

order to Fitzgerald, and, while I was in there, I took the  

groceries out of the 'basket and put them on the counter.. 

And then I Walked, over to the bar, and these to men. walked-

over to the toilet and -called the bartender out: to the 

toilet, and then the bartender went behind the bar again, 

and he says, "Open- the drawer, or I'll blow .your brains out 

and Barney Ames said, "I can't •" And he said that the 

otto se 1) 

And he a:sked hir the third tine, 

say nothitg, and theia he put his hand 

on fti the cash .regis ter 



BYTHE CQURT: 

Tt 0 of them, went behind the bar and they took.• themoney 

of the drawer, and. put iin their o'vero t pockets. 

Q, Do you mean the drawer of the cash register? 

Yes  SirP 

Q, And what did they do after they got the money? 

A They walked ' out of the doorand went in  a taxicab and 

went away. 

BY `I.TR . 

Q, Now, Fred, did you see this man there, that day, 

this defendant? A Yes, sir. 

Q, What did he' do? A He took the money out of th.e_cash. 

Q,. Did. he say anything? A Yes, sir. He sait,. 

drawer, or blow your brains - out." 

Q, He Said that to .Ames, the bartender; did he? 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR HOWE: 

used: to **1,7 ork for 

occurred, when you were in the saloon? A 



There is this sa1oor  that you spe 

c ornery of Grand. 

Q V)hioh corner is it on?; A Grand and, 

Q And do you. know which of the four Corners the 

CI 'Which corner is it on? A 

Q, Is it on the uptovm side 

the one away from the river? .A Towards the river. 

Q, Towards the river? A Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: That would be the southeast C-orner. 

Q, Phen did you go into the saloon, tb.at -morning? A 

Q, And who did you see in the saloon when you went 

in there; who was in there when you got inside? A The 

two men, and the chef, the cook. 

Q, And how mpny other. People? A Atholoiotf )e 



aThout 

Q, And were the two men U3atQu-

when you went in? A 

Q, Do you know-how long they v,reTp 

id rou,Tfred? A I 

Q, And where did. you go when you entered the saloon? 

A- .1 went over to the cook's table, and put these groceries 

on the table there and then went over to the bar to get t3,ie 

:iioney for the groceries. 

Q, _ And what were the other men doing in .the salon? 

A Some of them were at -the bar taking aglass of beer. 

.Q, Did. you see the •bartender when you•firsthwent 

.Nol sir;. he was in the toilet'. 

About hovi many men did you see standing at the bar• -

when you rent n? A About lb. But some were standing 



none of 

the saloon.? A Yes, sir. 

Q And.. did you know any of the other men that were 

standing there? A No, sir.. 

Q, Can You describe amr f them? A I couldn't describe 

them. 

• Q, Now, the two men that you: speak of were standing 

there, you say? Were they drinking? A No,  sir: 

Q- Were they drinking, I say? A No, sir. 

Q Were they talking to anybody? A They only talked) 

to Barney Ames, the bartender, when they said, '10 

drawer., or P11 blow your brains out." 

Q And did. you get the money for the groceries from 

ea the 

the bartender? A No, sir, I had to wait until thes. 

went out, and then Barney Ames paid me the money • 

Q How long did you stand at the lunch counter? 

ten or fifteen ninutes. 

Q, And were the two men s tanding at the I mob. c °miter.' 

the time? A • Yes, sir, at the bar, until they went Out, 

and. then I got my money and went home. 

A, Wells how long do you think they were there these 

two men? I couldn't tell you how long it was • . 

Q Well, about how long. do you say they eia the 
..0 

A I couldn't tell- you how 4!;.or • they were there. 

.'Q Well, just give us your best idea Of how long those-, 

two rften stood. there? A Abou r 25 intlter:3' • 

two men 

A •A:1361A' 

40.44111;; 



And,  altogether, how lOng-w.px.e 

A I was about that Much minutes. 

at  the end of th.e 

that you heard these words spolem that y u. have 

about blowing somebody's brains out if they didn't get same 

mOney? 741'S 

And what kept y-ou an the saloon 20 or a minutes? 

ATM I waS Waiting to get :paid the money for the groceries. 

Who were you waiting for to pay you? A 

Q, Te„la wasn't he there? A • Ys, s 

speak to h.im and ask hi,LJ. 

A I wanted to wait until thse.Vw.o:men 

went out, and. then I would get, ay money. 

Well there were other men besides these two men 

standing there; weren't there? A' _Yes 

why did. you Want to wait until these two 

men went t, before you asked- the bartender for. yotw .money? 

I was afraid, I was afraid they would do omething to me. 

Well, but they were all stan.ding there,. 

e there; Iva's- there? 

And you didn't bear thosectro nen o_ 



29 or minut es . •- 1,To sir-t not all the 

Q, And. they didn't say anything to yc 

A ro, sir. 

Q • But yet- you say yo were itraid of them? 

What were you afraid of? They didn 1 t SaY 

thing to you; did they? 

afraid • of getting shot'? A No S 1±' I was. afraid. they might.. 

t done anything to the 

And they hadn't done anything to you? A, No sir's 

WeLL, n.ovi , what were you (No an.slIver) • 

s ome b ody s bra ins out? 

at ter• you heard 



But that didn't last, t'or 20 or 25 minutes, did. -i t? 

17e1a., it: was ten or fifteen minutes after  I heard him 

I heard him say that  three tizes7-.3. 

Q, -Wow, then, what, kept you there for 15 or 20 minutes, 

ut asking or your money. Why did you stay in this 

room for 15 minutes without asking 'the bartender for the 

money fox' the gr oc er ies? A (No answer ) 

THE COMP.:: Well „ he has air ea,dy ans vier ed tha . 

lie said that he was wailti'ng for his money, and 

was afraid., and. whether he was there five or ten Tilinutes 

is immaterial. 

BY THE 001.1R.T: 

Q,'` You didn't look at the clock at that tine, did you? 

Q, You said 10 or 15 minutes. Will you swear. it was 

ov: asked .the bartende 

bl oving s omeb oc 



•K .Ty d.idn It do n. thing 

cr Did they stay around the ba-r? 

Did the bar tender rema.,in behind the bar:all 

BY, THE CO "URT:: 

Q Didn't he go to the wat r -el osie t? A Yes sir; aEter 

he came out of the wateF-clos he didn't go an3r more. 

Q, , after he cane . out of . the water -closet went% 

behind the bar? A Yes, s 

Q Did you see himleave the bar at time you were, 

there? A Vol sir. S 

BY THE COURT: 

c Well, didn't you see him go into the water -cl os et? 

A. No, sir; he was in the water -closet with another 

I went in and I saw him come out of the water‘clo 



D9 y'9u,knOw that b.e mane by, the wOrd !dere Want: 

answeirthe qu,esti on. if you 

• t unclerstaild 

BY MR. DMING: 

Q,- Did you s-ee this man sitting at the. table there 

in Bellevue Hospital (indicating ,the defend= 

Q, You saw him, next morning, in the liquor store? 

There was the ,defendant in the hospital? .A. He '.was„ 

sitting up in the d, and the  deteative took-me over tQ the 

. bed, ncI he said, "Is this the man that was in the beer: 

Q, Did -}1.ci poll I. t ithe mem that was in thi-

-point at the defendant? A Yes; sir... 

-Q, And vtriam, t did :?.ou say when he 

sa And this was hovi mg V. ter we: 



saloon? A I 1now it was on a Satdiy. I dGnt know how" 

long it was after... 

Q Well do .you know Whether it was one or two -weeks.? 

L Itmustlmvebeenaweekorso. 

Q Could. it have been . two weel.c 

as one or two vreeks;. I tkint sure. 

.Q Didn't t you point, another marl, too, another man that 

wasn't arrested." A No, sir. . 

Q You didn't see •three men come into the saloon" 

A Ito sir. 

Q, You are sure it was two? A Yes, 

1133 DIREGT EXAMIITATIOIT BY . DEEM: 

Are you sure this is one of the men '(indicating the. 

defendant)? A Yes, sir. 

Now, We, iil. .take .a . ecesa until half 

past two o'clock, and we will finish up this:case 

to -day, if possible. 

(The Court then admonished the jury in accord lace 

with Secilon 415 of the Code of Crtainal Procedure nd 

took a :'ecess .11.1ti2 two-thirty o'clock). 



e• 41*,• .1..4w. 

AferRecas. 

R 11 D E R I C K P 0 X, being recalled byr the Distric 

te,stified as follows: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY TOR DING: 

Now, tred, you remember,* that, 

were asked about identifYing this defend 

in the hospital? A Yes) sirl. 

Q, Wai that on the sane day You saw 

or on a later day9 A On the same day. 

Q Officer Snedecker took you there? A Y 

came in the afternoon and took me to the hospital. 

Q And on that, sane day yousaw the defendant 

CROSS IDCANINATION' BY. HOWE: 

who was with .you when you went to he ho 

A MS,: and: Snedecker, that s all. 

Q You arid Wle officer?. A 'Yes, 

0. And on what floor Tas the ward where the 

Q, Did. Officer Snedecke_ go in first? A 

Q, Did. (Yu follow hint? 

Q, And dia. Officer Syled 
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And did he walk up to the bed of the defendant? 

A Yes) Et iv. 

Q And. did you f chow h...m? A Yes sir. 

Q And at tha t time the defendant  had bandages around 

his head didn't he? A Yes. 

Q Didn t he hare bandages around the top of his head, 

this vta3r ( ill us trating) ? A IV°, 

Q, Well; where were the ba,ndages? IV' I don't know if 

seen any at. all. 

• Q; Now, jttryto think and see if you can remember.. 

'that fact? A I didn't see him with any-. on his head 

• the defendant was? A Ye 

Q And you followed him; did. you? A Ye • 

this theman"?  

Q Now, before yinu went to the hospital: did Officer 

Snedecker say what sort of a looking Ilan. he , was tha. was In - 

hospital?the  A Yes, 

Q Did he describe the man to y00 A Ha said, 1 Ws 

got a scar on his face." 

Q,. Oh he said that to you, did :4 .1:r 



Ammo , • • ••• ••••• •11. 
••••••.• N.,••• • •••*•.....•., • 
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And. did he tell you  what colar his air was? A No 

Or what s ort: of clothing hewas wearing? A 

scar on his face? A Yes sir'. 

Now, when Officer SnedeVz.er went up to the  bed where. 

the -defienda.n t was, , did, he say anything to the ' defendant? 

A' No ,.sir 

Q, .Didn't you.see. some troZ1e th the 

defendant'. head ( indica t ing)? A No s 

Q, Or any narks on him of any- kind? A I only seen 

the scar, on his face; that's all. 

Q, Didn't you see bandages all over his ears, white 

bandages ( • 11 us tra tang )? A No I didn't see. at.; all. 

Q, Now, you ave. never seen the defendant aS I uncleri-

s tend it, before the day you were in thesaloon; 

correct? A. Yes, sir'. 

Q, And. what time of the day 176.6 it when O' rcnt 

hospital? A . It v a  in the af ternoon-. 

Vhat? & It was n thp afternotinl.7Glic' 010 

scar on the 



Q ihere VIO,S the first', place you saw Officer: Snedenker? 

A He came store, and he brought me up. 

Q, He came to the store; did he? A Yes six. 

Q That tune ws it? A I don't knoa what t ine 

Q, Did he tell you that 

all this? A Yes, s ir.. 

Q, He told you that he had the an that ;took the 

out of the cash registerc; did he? A Yesj sir?. 

Q, He told you that before you' saw. theoman; did he? 

A Yes sire 

Q, see.. Now, 0-that else did he tell you? A 

all he told me. 

Q, Did he tell you what else did he ell• you .aThout> 

this defendant, Officer Snedecker? A That's all he told 

rap noy • 

me. 

Q, Didn't he tell you how tall he was? A go stir. 
Q, Didn'f he tell you that it ,:yas a shaft man that was 

in the hospital? A No, sir... 

Q, He didn't? A No, 

Q, Do you live with your mother, reddie: 'It Yes 

sir: 

Q At home? A Yes sir 

(1 You didn't see any other b 'oon; dicl you? 



\Ma; t ? A-
. 

You Were the only bay in the 'saloon, . were you? 

all the other:B. were- m ft? A Ye 

ask you- one more clues 

were you,. in. that saloon bef ore you heard somebOcl.y 

words used; "If  you don't give rtie the money, blow . your 

Drains Out," or words o. that effect' A 'About ten or 

fifteen minutes 

by looking at the 

e is It;.? A Six_ minutes 

to three? • A Yes, sira. 

know how -long ten minutes 



d.:•11... A Et L  Z U S T, f...5357.gaSt:...3:511ta  Sfreet, a witness 

• called on behalf Of the.People being, 

'testified as follows: 

DIXECT 3X.A.ITINATI ON BY lin 

please speak loud. . This 

and it is hard f czr theSe, gentlemen tCJ hear 

lixachman of 6-08 Grand; Street', in the saloon 

And that was your job  an -

r? A Yes, 
, 

•  0, Were you in that; saloon a 

on that morning? 

h f April, of this 

Q, Did you. see the defendant enter that saloOn on 

that morning? A Yes, sir.; with another fellow. 

Q, There were two men in all? A Yes, sir. 

Q, And what did the defendant do after.he came into 

the saloon? A They comes in, and talks wi th • the bar tender. 

awhile, ,Lncl then "Open ifw the drawer', I "clan 11 Some' 

And the baLtendev 4ou1dn't ao.the,t, and the vas 

a bottle s tandine. on the )L-).1., and he said, "If open 

the drawer, I'll hit you-with th:. bottle (illustrathtg," and 

then they 0 and open the till, and take out the bills, 

they leave the change there, and they put it in the 

pockets, the bills, and jizap right out, and outside i ho 

and. they pzap in, and goes atray. 



Did. you sa.y t'-iey vreat away in an auto? . - 

sir, in an automobile. There was four _.p.e_o_ples 

Q, This riaan and another man did. that (indicating the 

dectendant)? A Yes, sir 

Q, And how long were they there altogether.? 

the way from the bar, about six feet from the. bar.4 

Q Were yov: behind the lunch counter? k. Yes; aorOss 

the way from the bar, about six feet from th.e bar., 

morning? A Tell I seen him the next .time in the hospital. 

.Who took you there? A The detective took •me from 

my' place in the hospital, • the same day, 

(1 The same day that you saw him in the saloon? 

A Yes, sir. And he • wa8 in t e hospital. 

Q, And you saw him in bed at the hospital? 

IDA you ever seen him in your place; in the maloon, 

before that day? A Yes, he was there a couple Of •times 

before, and cIrank beer in th laeeA POW or five no  



in the place, him and seme other. peoples were in the, 

and, take a drink and goe outsiiie 

the only. way you knovi hira. fram: h*11,ing 

seen him in the saloon,? I Yes 

Q }Low long did. you work in that place? A One year. 

Q, Where are you working now? A I .workin the sarne -

You ork in -t-he-f same place now? A Yes 

Q, That time did you get to work on that morning? 

Q, And show many men were in the ,barroom at half 

six? A well, there was about fifteen peoples„.but-

, don't know th€: peoples by the names . 



What time was it when you first saw the 

that you have deScribect? -A About half past six; bE 

and seTen o'clock * 

R. Weal) can't you tell us about what time? A 

couldn't tell you not the minute-3, 

Q, Well wasit half past six, 

seven? A Near seven o clock • 

Q,• Near seven o c,1 ock? A - Yen, sir  

• There did. you first see the young boy Fred:. 

Q, Yes, that's the One I mean • A He takes tlie orders 

from me • He conies every morning in the place, at half.' past 

six, and he takes the orders from - me. Tie works for the 

gr.oceryman in that tine • 

Q, 1then did you see him fiTt, that- morning? A. Near 

Justseven o'clock.  the time when that man was in ( 

eating the defendant) . 

Q, Was it seven o'clock or half past six? A • t o ov3.cle t 

tell you so richt the mitute, becaue.I t 10 cir at the 



• Q Did they. seem ..to IDe arguing about paying money- at 

'bar?' Was it' bout som.e. debt the other man owedi? Vtas Lt 

a disputS, about the payment .of money at the bar? 

don't understand you. 

Q Now, you say you saw these men arguing at the bar? 

Yes, 

Now, were they etzgtuing with the man behind the 

ba- . ab-out some money that he owed? 

Now, do you unders tand• me? I don't think you, dô.. 

A Yes, I understand you. 

• MR. HOWE: If your Honor please I think that we.7 

_had be tter have the question repeats& by the inters-

pre ter. I don' t think he understands me at all. 

TIE COUR.T: Yes he had better speak in • German „ 

•-and let' him speak in German during the res t; of his 

(The question is repeated through the Of 

Not this man (indiaa.ting.,. the det 
other man who was  with_ him turned to me, . 

have. to get the Irtoney from the Voss." 

BY 111. . HOWE: 

was. illonez? 



How long did they stand at the bar? A About 

minutes, about ,en minutes they conversed with the bartender. 

Who came into the saloon firs 

Q,. . Are you sure of that? A Yes, 

How long was he in there before the two men camee. 

in? A I can't say exactly,: but the boy was standing arDund 

-there quite :a long while, because I had no time to. a.ttend, to, 

the two men came in? A He was maating for the money 

Then the two men came 

P Behind the bar. 

Q Did he remain Inhine C ton mitnteu 



the to men; were• theme.To.: This rdetn inclj.cating 

the defendant) called. him fr om.• behind the :bar; and went 

.the toilettf to talk. 

Q, How long did they 

of minutes 

1Tow, after they came out of the toilet, What ,did, 

they' do? A Then the bartender went behind the Thar, 

he did& t want to open the drawer  as yet, and this 

ca fling the clef endan t ) was threatening him . - 

Q, Now, during this time what were you'dpin 

bartender? A A couple of minutes. 

Q, A couple of 'minutes? A Yes, sir.. • 

Q, How far away is the lunch counter from the 

Q, That time of the day was it when you neXt.saw the 

defendant?, A It was In the afternoon-. I can't tell exactly 

the time. The detectives took me from the place tothe 

hospital. I think it was between two and. three o'clock in 

Did you go into the ward.? A: Yes sir. 
to 

Did the detectives take you/the bed where 

defendant was lying? A Yes, sir . 

Did the defendant have anr 



MOM; t 

face was free., was open (illustrating 

Q, Did the bandage's c Que down over the left- eye of, the 

defendant (illustrating)' • 

Q, Well do you remem,be5 about hat? A I believe 

was on the left side where he was blrading, but I 'rn not 

bar, yOu were attending' your 

Q, And do you serve food there in the morning to 

different customers that come in? A No, not ye. was 

preparing it, because at eleven o'clock, then I begin to 

Q The two men that you have spoken of, they spoke in 

the same tone of voice as the other men that wezte standing 

the bar; did they not? A No, easy. 

Q, Yes, they didn't a1k n,y tolider than anybody.else who ' 

Q, So that therewas nothing about* the tone 0f. voice 

.,,ghich they spoke that attracted your  attentiOg. ThOr 

no . I as easy amt quie 



were s tanding . at the  15ar?--. A. At the b'ar- there_ was.. no 

one else„ but there were sitting a lot -

Q, Well can you give us the names of any of the people 

were sitting there? A No. 

Q, Some of those men •that were sitting 

customers,: in that place; tretenit they? A i didn't 

with those people; ,I'm attending to my business. There was 

.pe-ople. coming one day, and don't come the net 

Q, Can you describe any man who was in the place 

the time, as you claim, and another' 

mali were there A That's a little hard, because' it w,s quite 

-some time, about four months have passed already. 

,Q, Now, when you went into the hospital with the officer, 

who went in first? A I went first, and the detecrtivecae 

Q, Now, when you got into the ward, did. the de tee 

walk over to the bed where the defendant was? .k Yee, sir". 

Q, Did you -i'ollow the detect -ore? A I was standing 

there, and also P, man employed in the hospital was standin.g 

near met, and the detective asked me if I knew the 



4nd dia he point to•the defendant? A. ThiS t know. 

Q What did th oLve say 1.O .yoix:while.yOi  were 

standing at, the bed where this defendant was -lying? A'He 

asked me if I knew the man and where, I had-,seen 

Q, And when he asked you that,did- he point to the. 
in 

defendant who was lyingith limn A • 1\To* 

Q,  Did he point in the direction of the place where- the 

defendant was lying? A' Whether- he pointed oUt I don' t know, 

but I remember he asked me Whether I knew the man* 

Q, What was the color of the clothes that . the defendant 

wa-s—Trielitsing at half past six o'clock in the /morning 

the 20th9 A He had On  a brown overcoat.. 

Q, What was the colo?c of the clothes of the man that 

was with the defendant? A He he'd no overcoat on. He had -a 

Q, Now, then, can you describe the clothes, the .cOlor,.ot. 

the clothes of any other man who :was in the barroom' On that 

morning that attracted your attention? A No, Ihad iio 1A&p. 

to pay attention to the color of the people who trag7e' 

Was the bed in which the defendant ,was lyingfwas 

that- thf first bed the ifficer ,00lc you to, when he vent 

mrd? I Af, on. : trl rt pu.t 



beginning near the door was the beol"! 

Q Was that bed away from the other beds In the war 

There were other beds standing by but no one. was on 

K2 DIRECT EMINATI ON BY 11R • DEMING: 

When you identified this man in the hospital 

the Fox boy there with you or not  A_ No• 



witness called on behalf of the People, being duly 

sworn, testified as follow  

DIRECT Z.C.MINATI-017 BY, le. 

Q, Officer, at about half past= on the morning of. 

April 20t11 of this year, where were you on diaty? A I was 

on a fixed post at that time, at Tompkins and Grand Street.. 

Q, That is, you were at the junction of two streets, 

near 608 Grand Street? A Yes, sir-t 

Q, You wre on post as two intgreiing points there? 

Q, Did you see anything unusual at thatistvi.00nla 
• 

hole? A I saw a taxicab come down Grand Street and stop 

the side entrance of .the salo.on7 and as  it pas spd 

MR. HO: Now, if yoiur Honor please,- I must, obl'ec 

at this point oh the grow that this testimony is im 

material and irrelevant and incompetent. 

ME COURT: well, unless it is connected:vrith the 

defendant, I will strike it out. 

two or three pairs of eyes -waS ,peeng :out from 

the. machine .2 out of the little- window, at the back, 

Aid o I. :felt. sitsp.ivious, and watehett riadaineq,. 



enter the Saloon and the d'o33r- of the taxicab was kep Open. 

I s itood thd,re f or  fully ken ' or fifteen minutes , watching a 

fellow came out repeatedlY. ft() -the side entrance, and looked' 

at me, and Went back, and he made that trip three or f our: 

times and ilthen the men came oixt, and entered' the machine 

and rode away. 

did you get the nt.ber of th machine? A Y 

Q, Did, you, -see the defendant' •ott that. day? .A.: y 

A C omi fig out of' the machine • 

•Q, Was he one of the two men to whom you .have referzed:i. 

as leaving the machine and Doing into the. saloon? .A • Yes 

Q, Was he the one who came out several times, or  the. 

other.one? A It was the other one 

Q, The other one? A Yes, sir . 



• You. t'urneal. the number.. over 

yoirnot? A.Y.s, Sirit 

OIOSS(DIMON BY 111R . HUM: 

C?, Where were you standing, officer? A At: the inter-

section of the streets there, Grand and T'ompkins Street, 

(;a415-out twenty-five feet away from the .entralAce 

..thei saloon? A Yes s 

A Were you standing 

Q And /ere ;.n uniform, were you? A Yes. 

Q, How long did, the taxicab remain in front of thee. 

A Well, about twenty minutes , I should judge. 

Q, Did you remain at your post all the timethat the 

taxicab was there? A Yes, sir-

Q, You didn't !,;o over to the saloon? 

• You heard no outcryldid you? A No., sir's 

And when the men left the saloon they walke 

Q, And then they drove away? A Yes, .sir.  

And how 1..onc, did you remain at' that fixed post. 

just as soon as the machine dr ov.e avay 

car s t.a•, cwi 3 ong, rilthout, te13.3, 



the machine drove away, •.I.tent Over, to the front 

Oh, how. long? Holly many minutes? A I didn't 

long did you remaini on your, fixed' post af ter? 

the taxicab drove away? A About a min.ute- or two I left 

the fixed posti then. 

Q , You say you noticed eyes png out of- the 

You had never seen. that before in an automob)ile? 

A No., not peering -tt me from the rear window. 

Q, And yet the taxicab drove right up in front Of you 

twen ve• feet !way? A Well, it made the turn c omin 

down Grand Street .• 

Q, And you were on the fixed post bout twenty-five 

feet away frOrfl the saloon? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Did. they keep on looking at you? A Well, on and 

off, I could. see them looking out at thewindow.• 

Was anybody in the taxicab looking at. you 

Did you look at him? A Well,. I didn't le. 

fixed post. I j-ust watched the 

Q, Did you speak othem? A. No, 



And. when they got out did: they keep looking  a 

you.. A' Well, one man kept coming in and, out cif the saloon., 

the side entrance. He. would come out partly ,' from the side 

Q, And look* at you? A yes sir,' 

Q, And then go back into the saloon? A Yes,8ir:. 

Q, And all the time you were looking in the direction- of the 

saloonl- A Well, watching the side door nd the mac.hine, at 

Q, • And ]-)or many times did they do that, Or: didthat; Mari 

that? A for or five times. 

Q,' And then :.;he two men came out? 

Q, Did they look -,1; you? A Yes, 

Q, Did you .look at them? A Yes, 

Q• And they gt into the taxicab? A Yes 

Q, And rode away? A Yes, 

Q Did they rum out to the 

Q,. And -„you, s tj 11 remained on your fixed post? A' Yes, 

the officer who took this little boy-. 

Freddie to the hospital? 

Q, Were you with Officer Snedecke 

hospital? A No, sir. 



A15 out. tilro years and. three months. 

Q,. Have- you talked: this case oVe 

:than the DiStrict Attorney? A I d.d not 

Have you talked with your brotherr officers 

this case? A I have not. 

Q, Haven't you talked to Officer Hayes or Off lc er-. 

Snedecker, about this case? A No sir.. 

Q, Didn, t' you tell them what you saw? A On the Aorrin 

Q, But did' you talk to. those officers? . A On 

morning I broughf ny report andLave it  to ,.the ..cte t:ectilres 

Q, And, after that you have no more connection with the 

ro u did was to hand In e. written r ep or -

And that ended your c onnecti on wi th the case-. 

since the arrest? A Yes, sir.. 

Q, Are you in the • same precinct' as the detective 



present time, you met? the other  officers in this cage eN'ea:y 

at times met them. 

Q, And yet you haven't discussed this case with. them? 

Qt, All that you did was to sign a wri t ten report?' 

cl Did. you tplk to the boy Freddie abo-ut the case? 

did not 

Q. Before P±'eddje went tothe hospi 1 did you speak 

Q, What time did you hand 

Die vol.,.J.k o the W1 tness who, tes tif ed 

You '1,1e.c, 

Q. You didn't 

ne and spoke' to the 11 



whom you saw? 

Q, This repor; which yCu refer'to, is that n your 

-own handutiting?A Well, I mere3.y Made 

paper of what I saw occur; .that morning. - 

Did You state in your report 

stated hete? A Well, the main facts. 

Q, Where is that report? A I donit—know.•

 

.. 

Q, Do you know who has it now? A I clo 

Q, You: a*v;e t to the lieutenant in the iO house, 

Q, fre.these reports kept there? A I guas they are. 

Did you state in the report  that a man had  come out 

three or four times and looked at you, and then.ha,d gone 

back into the saloon? A Well, that isn't necessary to report:. 

you said in ther-eport 

A Just the mere facts that occurrecV, that morning. 

window of the taxicab in your repor 

nee es se,ry in thatx ep art, 

Q, You .didn' t think i t was riec :0, ttat e • 



.1:::>;.,4 n • 

4 

RE DIRECT IMTINATION BY. DEMO,: 

.Q Now counsel has asked you.iphOm you spoke to in the 

saloon, and. you said the lunchman and bender' A Yes„ 

Q, Nov, what did you say.. them and_ 'what: did. they s 

you? 

MR. WE:EL  015jec„-t'ect to. 

THE C 0 'Mt: Objection sus tainedl becausei the 

defendant was nOt. present. 

H A M. GOTTI I E• 133, of 79- Bap t Second S_tree: 

a witness called; on :behalf of the .People, being ally.. 

sworn, tes tifi ed• as f ollows : 

DIR.EaT EXAMINATION BY MR . DEMING: 

You: are a chauffeml A Yes, zi 

Q, You run a taxicab? A Yes SiT 

the 20th of April? Q, .Do you remember,' the morning of 

A I do . 

Q, Do you remember' seeing the d.etndant on that morning? 

Never. That I s the only time then.. 

BY TEE COURT: 
- 

Q- Did You ever see thpt. def.endan 

A. 'No sir.. 

Br 31R. DT:113G : 

ore to-day. 

U 



TiTZ 

t you  see him now? A No, 

Ga.n ou see me? Look át rne.Are yob.: .sure YOu: earl 

A I can't recognize him. 

t know what is meant by the 

Q What is meant by •"defendant"? .A Tile party. 

Q, The party that is on trial? A Yes, sir?. 

Q, Now, there are four men at that table there. 

ca ting the counsel table ) . _. Look at them. Did. you ever  

see any: of them beflore.7 

A That one, there looks- something like him' . 

one ln the blue tie? A yes, sir ; 



the  truth. 't)) uncier,s ta,nd? 

TEE WIT:NESS: 

BY DEMING: 

Ronit be frightened. A I aint frighteneds.,. 

Q Now, when did. you see him before; if at all? A 

can't positively think it's him, but I saw someone that 

looks like him in the taxicab. 

Q, Noyr, what did those four men do at six-thty in. the': 

norning? A. I took them Lo Grand and Tompkins) and. a feW 

of them went into a saloon. 

• 9, How many went into 

saloon the man u think looked like the def"endan4.. 



Chatham Squave? n a -saloon. 

aloon? -A YeZ',:sir*. 

They dame out of a saloon and got into your taxicab? 

Grand and ToMpkins Street? 

on the way there? 

Q And two .of them went •inside of that saloon. 

Q, And how long did they stay inside? As 

A couple of minutes? A Yes, sir. 

And then came out again? A Yes) 

And what did they do then? A I droVe them away. 

And where did you take them? A Took them to 

Another saloon?. A Yes, sir; and. we all 1aa 

and then I took them down to Leight Street 

Did they drinkltoolin that saloon? 

there ve stopped. 

There did you take their to? 

And aie leave them there? 

H the whole fare? A 

th yo. A 

laptz  ;77:1_,73 

eight Street 



ttle over an hour? A Yes 'sir. 

4, .And they were only two minutes in this place in 

Grand Street? A Yes, 'air, only a few minutes.. 

Q,. BUJ; they were with you 'over an hour? A. Yes , sir1 

Q, Had. you' ever seen them befOre? A No,  

fa Later on, you told what you hadseen to. some 

detectives who came and looked you up? ..A1 Yes, sir. 

And you toOk the detec-tives in the • taxicab over-.' the 

• route Where. T'ou had. been with  •these four men? A Yes, 

•Q, And. told them there you had left the four men? 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. ROWE; 

How long 'did your taxicab.. remain in 

saloon? A A few minutes. 

• THE . COURT: Which saloon doyou in. 

• Toin.pkins and Grand Street? 

MR.•  HOWE: Yes, sir) 608 Grand St: 

A They e a few minutes in there. 

Q, About: bow long? A .About five minu 

did you see any of those 



.Q They only cane out once, and that was When 

out to get into the taxicab" A Yes, 

Q And you didn't see nything unUsual about he 

they acted? A No, 

They walked away into the °saloon fronr.yourcab 

quietly/ A Yes, sir. 

Q, And came out, and walked quietly: to. the ta5cidab, 

Q, Did you see an officer aroUnd: there? 

on the  cornex-where the saloon is. 

Q How far from the entrance to the 

standing? • .A About 20 feet or so). 20 or 

Q Was he standing on the sidewalk? 

.Q, Andwaz' he in uniform? A Yes, 

here (indicating) is the man that 

they cathe 

this man, this defendant 

Or 'le was 07'viof the fOt men that 

taxi, Or L c...casidn? A I can't swear to it. 

HOWF: That's all. 

BY TEE FOUPTF: 



of Chose' four /man, if you saw them 

never sav them since. 

RE DIRECT EXAMilTATION BY IM 

Q; Did you see this man in the hospital (indicating 

the defendant)? A I saw him in the hospital, yes but 

his face was all bandaged up. 

Is this the man thtt you saw in the hospital. 

sir, I, can't say hatt  

Well, the officer's took you there, to the hospi 

Yes, sir. 

. Q. And this Man was in a bed. there? A• 

was laying on a table there 

Q, And you couldn't -recognize him, even afterz-you sat 

hii thex i n ,t,.-,e..).osPit al? A No sir. 

me to.morrow, if you sawme? A know  

might. 

• RE CROSS EXAVIITAT:1,0n. BY . HOWE: 



Pxec.iflct,.::a witness called 

sworn,. testified as follows: 

Dino EZAITIZATIOIT BY TYR : 

Q, Officer, did you arrest the defendant? A 

him under arrest in Hudson Street Hospital 

Q, Yes. Did you see him before you got 

Q, well, never mind that. 

Q,- Dio you ever see him before that day at ,any time 

Had you ve:r seen him before that day in your police car 

A Oh, yes,_ sir, I had seen him.. 

Q, You had seen hit] before? A Yes, sir, on di 

when et ther Zs t 

identified him in the hospital? 

Gottlieb identified him.. 



*••• ...1.101.,•••••,40.**1, 

positively identified the ma 

there at the hospital. 

1.1R HOWE: I Object 

V11.111,1 

-that and move tostrike 

ou as a conclizion, if your 

identifiedhiri positirely 

THE COURT.: Yes objecti on sustained  

out and the jury will disregard. it 

oRpss EnifINATION BY MR. HOWE: 

Q, flow long have you been in the Deteci 

Honor please., that 

Strike it 

3ureau? 

Q, And. lrig have you been on the polic.e• 

A About 

,Q, Did y .see a rep.oa.- vHtten by Offider..Rosenberg?--

A Yes, I did, 

Q, A witten-report? •A Yes, sir: 

Q,• Who klas that report? A He gave a report to 

lieutenant i•hr, desk, and the lieutenant sent it _alto us,. 

to I and De tee- tve Harvey. 

Q, Havt th.e.t report with you? A .1o; it viasee1y 

on a plain Pct.. 1.,F.pe:ry 

Q, Where t? A 1 (ton know. 

Q Did n your custody? A I • did. 

I 'le ievf: 7on e .1) 

,'""rograetrrldirwroOtw.—' 



information 

9u this alleged ,crime; was ? A Yes, sir: 

,Witness, who went in the ward,first, you or thevitness? 

17117, Detective Harvey went in, and then the Chauffeur: 

went in; and .I followed the chauffellrA 

"Q, Where was the bed of the defendant? A He was then 

sitting an the operating table, and they were digging oUti 

bullet from behind his left ear- (indicating), Where he had 

teen shot. He was sitting on a sort of operating.talcile 

ln the reaeption ward. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q. Vas he conscious? A Yes, sir, halfcOnscdaus. 

Well, did you U0lc to him? A Yes„ sir;, I asked  

him Who shot him, and how he got shot. 

Q. And *did he answer you? A Yes, Sir; he said, *I. 'don 

know." 

BY MR, HONE: 

Q And you took this witnuss to the bpe'atingstabel 

were_the_clefendani: was lying? A Yes, sir. 

Q And else was in the room? A There vere two 

doctors. 

'iite itom 6f,t: 



That 's all, officer. 

RE DIRT ETAMINITION BY MR. LEUNG: 

q

 

Officer, What was the name of the office 

to thehospital with Zust? A Detective Snedeckev.• 

Q Well, taiho went with Pox? A Well, either him 0 

Is Detective Keane here 

Is he outside now" 

MR..DEEING: Well, send him in. No, leave' 

and counsel can call him, if he Wants 

It is merely cunitaative, I submit, yoHOncr.. 

TIE. COURT: Very well. 

MR, DEMING: And we rest our case. The other. 

officers are outside and counsel for the defense :can 

call them if he wants to. 

MP, HOWE: Now, I move, your Honor, for:'a 

direction of acquittal, on the ground that th,e Poo:Ple 

. have failed to establish the allegation set fOrth 

in the various counts in the indictment. 

THE COURT: Motion denied. 



THE DEFENSE.* 

the defend.an being duly sworn;. 

testified as follOws: 

NR• HOVE: If the C t•,, please, the defendar 

lose the hearing of one of his ears, and. I am afrai 

that I will have some difficulty in making myself 

heard by- him, and undeerstood by him, but I will try 

get along as best I can• 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY ivir-? . HOE: 

Q, That is your name? A Charles Isola, 

Q Vhere do you live? A 24 City Place* 

Q, And with whom do yo live ter e? A I 

with my brother and 

What io you work Iola? A At. dam 

Q And how long have you been employed by  them 

be en empl oyed by them s ince the f irs t time they 1i 

subway here in Lafayette Street. . 

How long is that?, A About eigit or nine y 

t might be a little more • . Prom igh t to ttrelv8 years 

C,71,17== 



Now, on the 

in' the hospital in the City of New York? A. Yes, 

Q, What was the  name of that hospital? A The Mid: soli 

Street 'Hospital 

The Hudson Street Hospital' 

Q, What time of the day were you taken there? 

couldn't exactly- tell the tinie I don't 

Q, Well, about what time? A I don't remember ; 

Q,- You don't remember? 

•;-,Ion morning or afternoon? A In 

Q, Well, about ten o'clock, or nine o'clock, or tht 

have been about nine 

Q, Were you suffering with some inj ur.ies? A'Yes; I 

ufferi%, ith a stab wound in the back ...here ndica, tine; 

shot in 4.h a(1. here (-indicating, a: point behind.  



taken to BUevue HOstal,and I s a ed there two weeks an 

two days. 

9, Vha, time in the kliorn.ing did you le at-e your home?. 

o cl oak . in the morning 

Q,- And where did. you,' go? .A • I went up 

Street and Broadway * 

Q, And where was it that yo re)aeived the inj uri es 

that you have described? A In L ight Street I be teen. 

Var ick and Hudson Street. 

Q, Now,. since the receiving of those injuries on- that• 

da,y have yo u any recolleati on of what happened after 

A, No sir. 

Q, DO you recollect. anybody co 

speaking to you? A yesi sir.; 

ing to the hospital 

recsdle the  fficer, 

brining up 1,v10 boys to Bellevue Hospital, and -he 

and he said; "He 11 o  Charlie," and s tax tied to talk 

twg) boys . 

Q, :Who was that officer? Do you know his name? 

A Snedeaker. 

Q, Nov, tell in detail what he said to you. In the 

presence of the two boys? A He didn't say nothing to me, 

but only said, "Hell o I Char? ie " and he was talking to the 

two boys. He said, "Is this the_ jhan? " And they were ri 

!iOtions v,ith their head. One minute they would go this 

.way, and the eat. minute they 770. u. this. 175:..- CilluSt21:1,t110/ 



and 1 said to Officer SnedOeker?, "IMIat does this mean?" 

And he said, "You ought to know what it means." 

Q. And how long did they remain it the hospital? 

About two minutes. 

Were you placed under ether, that day, and operated' 

on? A Well, what hospital do you mean? 

Q, I mean when you were operated on.? A INdsori 'Street 

that where the boys were 

were up in Bellevue Hospital. 

Q And you were removed, were you, to 

the Hudson. Street 

Q And have you lost the hearing of One ear as the 

result of that injucy? A Yes, sir, right ear. 

Q And have you ever been arrested before, and convicted 

of crime? • -A I've been arrested before for intoxication. 

Have you ever bee  convicted of any  crime? A Fo, 

Were you at any time in the premises at 

Street, on the 20th day of April? A No, sir. 

Q It is stated here by witnesses that,. 

past six on th, t morning they saw you in tie sa 



addr es S • can you recollectnow aboUt .where 

you svere in  the City' of New York at that time' • A At that 

time I was irr the house, dressing myself, go and look for 

'a position, fbr work. 

Q, You were in the house at that time? A Yes, 

Q, Do you mean by the hous you mean your horo.e; 

taxi at any time on that 

CROSS MAITINATION BY 1112 .. 

Q, You were never in. that saloon 808. Grand 'Street in 

your life; were you? A No, sir.. 

Q; You are abs o]. utely sure of that? A Sure.'a 

Q, You lef' your borne at seven o'clock? A Yes- sir. 

And. where did A' I went on the corner 071. 

Broadway and. Chambers Street. There. is a subway there The 

started a. new subway.) nd .711 went there to _see if I c dad. see.. 



u only worked off and. n? You d.idn. t work• 

work for one company steady, because, they haven t 

Well then, you haven't worked for one• conipany steady 

for nine - years? A That's the only company • Worked for,  

but when it rai:(10, or it might be slack Dor a week 

during that time; has there? A Oh, yes . There is the 

Fourth Avenue subway in Brooklyn has been building, but, -I' 

Rot laid off because the work was slack.. 

Q, And when did. you leave Broadway and Chambers $treet.,. 

on that' morning? A About eight o'clock. 

• Q, With v,rh ora did you talk there? A I d. icha It talk wi, 

noone, because I didn't see none of the people that I knOW: 

Q, And you. didn't talk to anybody during that hour 

from seven tb eight? A No, sir. 

walked down through Chambers Street, expected to see Mlle. 

tar -roofers v,-orl,..ing Liopiewhe e.„ and find out if I °bad co 

sorie k. And I ‘.:Talked„ a little ways down to West Ste,e 



. Chambers Street walked west to Wes t .8 tree. 

up as far as Leight Street, Make a short, cut, I 

come rip thr ough Le ight S tr e ri th the intentions 

to the Germania Roofing Company, and ask for a 

Q And did you see anyone that you kneW n the way Up 

Leight Street? A- No, sir. 

• Q, And you stopped at a place in 54 Leight Street. 

to get a drink; didn't you? A Well, I couldn.lt tell you 

thenumber, b-ut I went into a saloon-, and had. a drink 

heard some men quarrelinb in there, and. so I took, my dri 

and went to ak out, and someone struck_ me a blow in th.e: 

t out of the front part and 

run thr ouch the yd, and, as I got out of the yard, 

felt a pain the head, and I dropped,. 

Q, Did you heard any shots? A No, I didn' t hear any. 

Q, You jusi ot struck, and didn't hear any? A 

couldn't hew. , ecaus foir.i the li,reakness, from the lOss ofY 

ie't hi1p rØi. VOX' e 



• Now'; wasn't It To  

couldn't tell you who. the 

.You know Tor :ti, 

You never heard :that 

• Was it l'oggi? 

Q, Do you know him? 

newsimpers ; that's all 

Well, was it Sirrocco? 

Now; .haVen, t you knovm 

for about fifteen years- I've known him, but 

nothing against me 

has had a. big row with- To 

THE COURT: Objection sus 

never. had 

.)1. the taxicab, that mornint4.? 

in no taxicab at all. 

• Q, And weren't you shot dtlen you and. Torti quarxtelled 

about 'that money, and Tor ti accused you of keeping back s 

I wasn't in no taxicab at all. 

Q, And you were taken to the hospital ±'rot34Leight 

Street, weren't you? vIt shot in the Yar 

1 didntt knot/ a 

remenber 



WOW 

THE COPT: Now, then, that Closes the testimony/ 

1,1R7 DEMING: Yes , 

THE COURT: Then we will take 

thirty o'clock, to,-morrow morning. 

(The Court then admonished the jury in .abc.ordance 

with Section 415 of the Code of Criminal Proced.tre 

and adjourned the further trial of the case: until 

tomorrow morning, July .16th, 1912, at 10:30 o'clOc.k),. 



THE COURT: Any urther. testimony offered neither 

DMI1G: io more, air. 

THE COURT: You do not *iah to recall ttp fire 

MR. HOWE: I desire to renew the same notion that 

made at the dlose of the Paeple's case. 

MR. 'HOWE: And I respectfully except.' 

your Honor to take away from the consideration of the jury 

the first count in the indictment charging robbery tn the 

first degree. There is no evidence to sustain that count 

(Mr. Howe than summed up for the defense and 

Deming closed the oabe for the People.) 

THE COURT: Mr. Deming, do you want the lareenY 

count submitted to the jury? 



2.4a • .....41•• • 

MR. DE=G: Well, / think perhaps it would be better 

to submit it. Tho jury might have some reasonable 

doubt  as to the- degree of violence used, and n that CAI* 

they would f ind perhaps only that there Was it larceny, 

stealing of the money. 

••• •••• 111.1 S. 



This defendant has been indicted bl the G*nd 

Jury of this county of the crime of robbery in ti ° SS41111t 

degree, and the indictment charges that in this eoun 

on the 20th day of April, 1912, in the day times with 

force and arms, he feloniously did make an assault -upon 

one Bernard Eamon, and the sum of seventeen dollars, in 

money, lawful money of the United States of Ameries, and 

of the value of oeventeen dollars, of the goode,ehattels 

and personal property of one john Fitzgerald, from-the 

person and in the presence of the maid Bernard Esziessi, - 

against the will and by violence to the person of the 

Bernard Damon then and there violently and feloniously 

The indictment chargers that he madea foiontous 

assault on Bernard Eames, and that he did teloniounly 

steal and carry away the sum of seventeen dollars whieh 

was the property of John Fitzgerald, from the person and 

in the presence of the said Bernard Bases* and arAinst the 

. will and b violence to the person of the said B =salt •• 

Eamon, the said Charles Isola being then and there' -aidst 



by en accomplioe actually present, 0.4(tto, b7 a certain 

person or persons to the Grand 3ury unknown, 

row, you understansl, gentlemen, that an indict" 
ment is only a written charge, intended to let the defend-

ant know what he is charged with, and to let you know what 

the cha rge against the de fondant is. You must, therefore, 

keep in mind the allegation that it the °aunty of NOW 

York, on the 20th day of April of this year, Bernard 

Eames. had in his presence and in his custody seventeen 

dollars, the personal property of John Pitsgera344 

secondly, that these defendants did feloniously make en 

assault upon Berhard Eames, and that they feloniously did 

steal, take and oarry away that seventeen dollars from 

the person and the presence of Bernard Barnes, against his 

will and by mane of force and violence and fear of injury, 

to his person, and t ba t these acts were conmtitted by this 

defendant, Charles Isola, and that he was aided loy sx ceipm• 

plies actually present, by some person or persons to the 

Grand Jury unknown, and that these acts are against the 

eta tut e• in such case ma de and provided. 

You understand that it is the duty of the Cour 

to instruct you in the law, and you must take the law 

exactly as the Court gives it to you without question, 

and then you must keep that law in mind and view tb'S 

once in the libt at the law. The Statute Whieh 11 

referred to in the indictment is a Tory plain orto . it 



is known as section 2120 of t 

follows: 

"Robbery is the unlawful taking Of personal 

property, from the person or in the presence Ot 

another, against his will, by means of force or 

violence, or fear of injury, immediate or future., to 

his person or property, or the person or property Of 

a relative or member of his family, or of any on  in 

his company at the time of the robbery," 

You &me that the first thing that that aeotien 

says is that robbery is the unlawful taking of personal • 

An unlawful taking is a taking without right 

or warrant o37 law; and the second element is from the 

person or in the presence of another, against hie will by 

means of force, or violence, or fear of injury, immediate 

or future, to his person or property. 

There are different degrees of robbery. Rob 

bery in the first degree, which is charged in the indiot-

ment I is defined in section 2124, as follows: 

"An unlawful taking or compulsion, if aocop1i0h-

ed by force or fear, in a case specified in the fbre 

going oections of t hie article, is robbery in the 

first degree, whon coundtted by a person: 

1. Be iljg armed with a dangeroue woap 

2. Being aided by an accompliee actually 



morning in that store, and there were two persqns con" 

cerhed in it, that would be robbery in the first 46Srees 

if all the other elements were present. The charge is 

made in the indiotment that this defendant robbed. Bernard 

lames and that he was aided by .an accomplice aotUallY 

present. If two or more persons are ooncerned in the 

commission of a crime, each is equally guilty with the 

other. Al]. the persons who aid, or abet, or counsel or 

advise the commission of a crime are equally guilty. 

Although one person may do the actual taking of the 

property, if any one was there aiding and abetting 

or counselling or advising him to commit that crime, all. 

the persons concerned in the commission of the crime MY 

be regarded ap accomplices of each other, and they are

equally guilty, and that is what is sant by an accom, 

You have heard the testimony of the witn 

who said that they were in tke store at the time 

the police officer who says he was outside and of the 

chauffeur who is alleged to have driven that car,. tie% 

there were two man who entered the saloon. The bartender, 

I think, said there were three. A discrepancy of OA 

4---kind does not mean that any witness has oozzlittsd perjury. 

If there were two or more men engaged in the commiseiork of 



• 

the robbery, t1y were all equal4y gi4ltr, audit wOuld 

be robbery in the first degree. 

whether there were two or three 
,    

immiterial. The w tneesee 

If there was it robberYI 

n engaged in the rOhbery 

be hozie$%l gistaken 

on that point, in view of all that happened there at that 

time. You must decide what happened there, and you may 

conaider whether a happening of that kid did or did not 

tend to excite or confuse persons looking on, and 1ead 

them to differ ae to the number of persons engaged. 

You understand that this is not an action between 

Bernard Bastes and the defendant. It is an aetion between 

the defendant and the People of the State Of New rerk$ 

which moans organised society in this State the ten 

millions or more of people living within the borders 

this State, who have the right to make laws to acoompi 

the purposes of the governnant. The People have made 

laws, and the law I have read to you defines and forbide 

robbery. They charge thp defendant with the. violation Of 

that law in the particulars set forth in the indicstonent. 

The rule is that when a defendant is brought 

bore for trial, he is presumed to be innocent. That =MO 

that he is not obliged to prove his innocence. That JO 

taken for granted until his guilt is shown by evidenee.,_ 

And the law in that, in the absence of sufficient Credible 

testimony to satisfy you of his guilt beyond a reasonab1s. 

doubt he is entitled to an acquittal 



The question arises 4 

reasonable doubt. Xt is not 4 

prejudice, or on a ca ice, or 4 -

avoid doing your duty, but it is a doubt 

0 what meant by 

t that is based on 

desire to 

heneat 

juror feels, after a careful ezamination of ali the evid-

ence in the case. It is a doubt that is baSeA on reagent 

as the term implies, And for which a r. son can- be ZiVeni 

If your minds are firmly convinced to a moral certainty by 

the ev1rdence in this case that there was a robbery 00m-

mitted and that thiu defendant vis the person whe ()omitted 

it, and that he was aided by an accompIiee aotuallit pros-

ent, I say, if your minds are firmly convineed On these 

points, then your minds are not in a state of rosOonob10. 

doubt. The People then have met the burden whiehi* 

imposed upon them of proving him guilty beyond At Maven* 

able doubt. But, if the evidence falls short of tha 

for any reason connected with the evidence or laek of 

evidence in the meet then your minds are in a state Or• ' 

reasonable doubt, and the draftndent is entitled to 

benefit of the doubt. 

You have heard all the teatimony itj thia:etas 

und it is for you to say whether there was any talticeb 

on that morning that me driven up to this p aces and 

Jahether there was any police officer there who Saw two 

moon get out and go into the saloon, and, Wbethartbere was 

any, saloon there n4 whether the bartenderlhae'tolli tbS. 



truth when he %id that the aoti:one- :0: .theae Win seared: 

him,.or, as he put. i*here, "I saw them with *hoir. ha 40 

in their coat .pockets, like that ailustrat$40 

Was asked, "One of thorn had his band in his right Coat 

pooket like that (illuetrating)V A Yes, air. . 

Q And what did he say to A BO telde to give. 

up the money." And then he. said he gave Up the money 

"because I thought they might de, me bodily barM 

Keep in mind the elements of the 0*W... _Vim 

will have to find,- first, that there was some petsonsl 

property taken Secondly, that the taking was 11144wflil... 

The bartender testified that tbsso persons who CamOnto. 

the saloon 'had no interest' in the saloon, thkt they !vs-

pot the owners and'had no right to take the 040Y; if :it.. 

was an unlawful taking; and, if that money was taken in 

the presence of the bartender, and the bartender Said 

that he was there, and against his will, by moan of fore*, 

or violence, or fear of injury, immediate or fut*r0410 

his person or property, that would be robbery.. 

It is not. material Whether that fear.waa.pre-

duced by words actually spoken, or by acts whiCh indioa404 

to his mind an intent to ALo violence, to dQ'in.jUfl 

his person, as. he says heteared. It is net uoessary 

to prove, as some of the witnesses said, that the Person 

who took the money said that he would blovichit* train.* outs 



r it him with a bot tLe, t he y may bare le that or the 

may not, and it is for you to aay whether tbyb boar4 a 

part of tke tranaaotion, and the bartender heard ha vest; 

but if -Eno bartender, in uftose custody that money was,.. had 

fear instilled into his mind in any way, by a threat, b.Y 

the -thrusting of the hand into the coat pocket to istiZ 

fear Into his mind that he would be shot or re sive boUly 

harm, that would be one of the elements constituting 

robbery. 

The law puto the burden upon you of de diWj thti 

gaota; tin Court ie the judge of the law, and you are the 

supreme judges of the fact, and there is no going behind 

your verdict on the fact. So you must view the teetim,Ony 

carefully and calmly, with a desire .to find the ttrbb, if 

Possible, from the evidence. 

Facts are proved by witnesses, and you must 

upon the credibility of witnesses. That word "(Medi 

bility" means worthiness of belief. You must decide from 

t he - ev idenoe what to ok place, who saw t alleged occur-

-ranee, and how much of it they saw, and whether or not 

they have given you a correct a.ocount of the occurronCO ;UP 

it appeared to them. 

In other words, you pass u on the orhibility 

of witnesses, you decide what witnearaea tebeilsvo, that  

is your burden. And, if than aro itisorepaaCie* fl tboir 

testimony which are not material yOzt mar gnors them, If 



teStif104 

falsely. on a Material elenent in the cue, that WOUld. be 

-perjury, and you may disregard all the teat MenyAtr SUOU 

But you ought to le slow to accuse 40Y Witneaa 

of perjury1 The mire giving of 4 statement which differ* 

in detail from that of another witness does net necessarily 

imply perjury,. even if the faota are material. All the 

'stories may be true, and you must, if poseible, reconcile 

If there is an Arreconollable conflict in the test#0' 

imony, thpri you must Say whiah rAde you believe. . If 

there was a robbery, was the defendant concerned in it? 

( of these witnesses swore positively that 

this defendant was in that saloon. You have heard the 

testimony of the bartender, that he 'oould not recognise 

You have heard tta testimony of the polioeM44 that 

he saw him go into the saloon, and of the chauffeur, thet 

a man that looked like him was driven by him to that 

saloon, and driven away from that saloon,:and left by him 

in a saloon in Laight street, where this defendant win 

subsequently found, a short while thereafter, cbct. 

Now, did those witnesses tell the truth t' 

their testimony satisfy you beyond a reasonable doubt as: 

The defendant says he was not 

a direct conflict in the testimony, and you mu 

between the witnesses as to who is tell the 



thereshule  is no absolute rule ot law laidtieWn tO how 

you shall make that deciSion, youmuøt to f3asOnabIe 

men. You may consider the oharaot r Of the wtneaae,  

their manner of giving their testimony, heir interim 

if an311, in the proceeding. 

What Interest, it any, has any othe Witntosses 

called by the People in the case That is for you to 

say. Are they animated by spite to testify fasely, Or 

are they honestly mistaken or are they telling the truth'? 

What interact; if any, has tne defendan 

Is he a truthful man, telling you the trOth 

has the fear of a prison sentence or ptuiishraent led WA 

to commit perjury? That is for the jury to tiebide 

You must weigh all the testimony carefullY 

Every oiminal case is important, and the work you are 

doing now in the luost important work that oitisene are 

called upon to do, in time of peace. You must not sbe 

affected by arvi consideration whatever outside of the 

evidence in this case, but must be guided solely by thO. 

evidenee and the law, as given to you by the Court 

Thu elauents of the charge are easy to remember. 

Was any money taken? Was it taken by force or thi ugh 

fear? If money was taken, is it reasonable to suppose 

that the bartender would atre up the money Of 4a own 

accord, or do you believe him when he say. tbs, 



31111111iii"d 

up through $ or allowed V)• be taken throu tear of 

bodily hn9 If hat fear, X brore ;said, was 1:nspired 

o took 'the money, or by any 

hen that it'old be one Cif the elements of robbery, 
which would dietinguish it, from larotany tr there wa O' 
money taken, no threat made, no fear instil:Lett into tlIP 
mind Of the bartender, of 001137$0 • the it/014M 111 no orime 

at all. 1ut f money was taken, without Inataling fear 

into the mind of the bartendey, or taken by 4 poroon INIXO 

took it veoretly without the knowledge of the bartender, 

it would not be robbery, but would te larceny, 141440, is 

defined in section 1290 of the Penal Law, es follows: 

defraud tho true owner of hie property, or 
ot•
 th 

use and benefit tbereof, or to appropr ate the sfle 

to the use of the taker/ or of any otherperigon, 

takes from the possession of the true owner, 

any other person/ any money or peraenal property, 

steals such property and is guilty of larce4y4 

That is, if some one entered that Store without• 

the knowledge of the bartender, and went seOret4t 

the bar/ and opened the till, and took out t, MOW, that 

would be larceny; that la, laroeny is the t Ang of person-

al property from the owner, from the possession of the 

owner, or anyone representing tte owner, with the felonious; 

intent of depriving tpe owner or it and appropriatik it 



to the U 15e of the taker. 

Now, you have to decide 'whether tbat 1* this 

case or not. Witnesses have testified that there wall 151, 

taking, and: that they saw it, and that the money was taken 

openly The bartender whose duty was to protect it, 

said it was taken against his will, because foar of immed-

iate injury was _instilled into his mind by the &otos of the 

person who took it and of his accomplice. If you find 

-ellen was an unlawful taking, but that it was not a .rebbery, 

but was a larceny, under the oircumstenees of this catse• 

the proof being that only seventeen dollars was taken, and 

there being no claim that_ it was -taken frein the person of 

the bartender, as the money wan not on his person belt was 

in his custody, it would be a petit larceny only. 

So Vie t, gentlemen, you meet none ider the. Whole 

testimony, and you nuet decide who told the truth harte 

and if the testimony of the withessos that you deem. (wed: 

ibis natiefiee you beyond a reaeonale doubt that Vire 

was an unlawful tekine of personal property aeid that that 

unlawful taking was against the will of Eames, and t4t it 

was taken from his person or in his presence against -his 

will, by moans of force, or violence, or fear of inpry, 

and the person who did that unlawful taking was aided by an 

accomplice actually present, and that this is _the person 

who either took it, or was acting in concert with the per-

son who did take it, then it is your duty to say SO by the 



verdict of guilty of robbery 
There are so= defini 

to you. Section 2121 of the Paw. sows 

"To constitute robbery) the toroe or tear Must 

be employed either to obtain or etain pi:400481ft 

of the property, or to prevent or overooM, reaiStance 

You have heard the bartender'e teatimony as 

how hie resintance to the taking was overcome; and se 

"When force in employed in either 

specified in the laet section, the degre 

employed is immaterial." 

If enough force was employed to i 

the mind of the bartender, und property was tam in hi 

presence by meane of ti a feree_lknd fear, and if all tbe 

other elements of tiv crime are eutabliehed to your antis-

fact4on beyond a reaeonable doubt, thou that would be'. 

If you find that there was no robbery, and yet 
you find that ueventeen dollars was taken from the till' 

there, unlawfu14y, with the felonious intent to depriVoll_ 

the true owner of it, it would be petit larceny. 

MR. HOW: No, your Honer. 



Nonet your Ytono 

Vothing further? 

(The jury retired at 1:50 A. N.) 

(The jury returned to the Court roam at 3. 
P. M., finding the defendant guilty of robbery 

the first degree.) 

wth auk your Honor to remand 

%he defendant until Thursday OT Iriday, and I will reee 
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